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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 

 
1. Whether the determination that a transaction is domestic is sufficient for 

the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b). 
 

2. Whether an employee who, at the insistence of a superior, inserts a false 

or misleading statement into investor materials, is subject to primary 
liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c), even if that individual is not the 
maker of the statement for purposes of Rule 10b-5(b).  
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 STATUTORY AND REGULATORY PROVISIONS 

 

 This case presents questions of the interpretation of 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), 

and 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.  The relevant text is reproduced in the appendix.  

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 In 2009, Gianni Marconi (“Marconi”) partnered with his friend Benny 

Factor (“Factor”) to launch Alcollezione, a new business venture in Italy’s win-

and-spirits sector. (R. at 1–2).  Due to their lack of familiarity with Italian law, 

the two hired Ava Cato (“Cato”), a bright young Italian attorney who graduated 

at the top of her class at Sapienza Università di Roma.  (R. at 2).  Cato helped 

Marconi and Factor establish the company’s headquarters in Milan and 

structure it as an Italian corporation.  (R. at 2).   

 Two years later, in order to gain more capital to compete with their rival, 

Marconi and Factor agreed to take the company public.  (R. at 2–3).  In 

preparation for a 2011 initial public offering (“IPO”), Alcollezione created an 

“Investor Relations” section on its website, where it posted financial 

statements, corporate disclosures, and other investor materials in both Italian 

and English.  (R. at 3).  Shortly thereafter, the company closed a public offering 

of 20,000,000 shares of its common stock and listed them on the Borsa 

Italiana, the Italian stock exchange.  (R. at 3).  However, Marconi, now the 

Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”), and Factor, now the Chief Financial Officer 

(“CFO”), remained the majority shareholders of the company. (R. at 3).  With 

capital raised from the IPO, Alcollezione expanded its markets across Europe 

and into the United States.  (R. at 3). 
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 Following the initial success of Alcollezione, Marconi, Factor, and Cato 

traveled to New York to visit family and friends.  (R. at 3).  While in New York, 

Marconi, Factor and Cato went out with some of Factor’s old friends, one of 

which was Doris Schutt (“Schutt”).  (R. at 3).  Over cocktails, Schutt suggested 

Alcollezione consider forming a local subsidiary in the United States to better 

manage the retail sector and stay abreast of American trends.  (R. at 3).  

Marconi resisted, stating he no longer had a temperament for American 

business.  (R. at 3).  Schutt then suggested the company consider sponsoring 

an American Depository Receipt (“ADR”) to access the American capital 

markets, which did not change Marconi’s answer.  (R. at 3).  Later that year, 

Slow Company featured Marconi wherein he talked about his fondness for la 

dolce vita and reiterated that he had no intention of moving back to America 

even as his drinks grew in popularity there.  (R. at 3–4).   

 Even after he returned to Milan, Schutt continued to pursue Marconi as 

she contacted him to explain that a group of her hedge fund friends expressed 

interest in buying into the growing company.  (R. at 4).  Since doing so would 

be impossible given portfolio restrictions on trading on foreign exchanges, 

Schutt informed Marconi that she could use her position at Hansen Bank and 

Trust (“HBT”) to set up an unsponsored ADR.  Several weeks later, HBT filed a 

Form F-6 to register the unsponsored Alcollezione ADRs in accordance with the 

Securities Act of 1933 (“Securities Act”).  The ADRs were traded over-the-

counter (“OTC”) and purchased via phone by various hedge fund managers in 

New York and Connecticut with the assistance of HBT employees.  (R. at 4).   
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 Leading up to the 2017 Shareholders Meeting (the “Annual Meeting”), 

Marconi, Factor, and Cato met to expand their beverage line.  (R. at 4–5).  

Factor and Cato were instantly sold and, following the meeting, Cato met 

privately with Marconi and notified him that she would need to do some 

research to ensure that the new beverage – Frizzantissimo – would comply with 

Italian regulations.  (R. at 5).  Cato began a diligent research assessment of the 

current Italian regulatory landscape regarding alcoholic sparkling beverages.  

(R. at 5).   

A week before the Annual Meeting, Marconi met with Cato to seek 

assurance over compliance with alcoholic sparkling beverage regulations.  (R. 

at 5).  Cato informed Marconi that compliance with regulations “would be an 

uphill climb” and while possible in the long-term, it “seemed unlikely in the 

short-term.”  (R. at 5).  Marconi insisted “these things always find a way of 

getting resolved.”  (R. at 5.)  He further added, “It is better to ask for forgiveness 

than permission¬––and trust me, I can handle the PR stuff if there is 

blowback.”  (R. at 5).  Cato, although visibly skeptical, was pressed when Mr. 

Marconi finally stated, “Listen, this is happening with or without you.”  (R. at 

5).  Ultimately, Cato reluctantly drafted assurances that the product, 

Frizzantissimo, was to be approved and ready for market in the second quarter 

of 2018.  (R. at 6).  These assurances were subsequently inserted into 

Marconi’s slide deck and footnoted in Factor’s pro-forma financial statements.  

(R. at 6).   



R09 

 
 

4 

 At the Annual Meeting, Marconi delivered his slide deck and proudly 

announced the launch of Frizzantissimo, passing along copies of the pro-forma 

financial statements and samples of the beverage.  (R. at 6).  The presentation 

was a success, as the stock (and the ADRs) soared over 8% in after-hours 

trading.  (R. at 6).  The slide deck and financial statements were posted to the 

Investor Relations section of Alcollezione’s webpage along with a video file of 

the announcement and an accompanying press release.  (R. at 6).   

 On March 14, 2018, after the stock and ADRs continued to trend upward 

through early winter, the Alcollezione management team were notified that all 

production of Frizzantissimo must halt due to noncompliance with quality 

control standards of production.  (R. at 6).  In the ensuing hours, the stock and 

ADR prices dropped nearly 30% each.  (R. at 6).  All three senior executives 

subsequently stepped down from their roles.  (R. at 6).  At this point, no Italian 

or European authorities have commenced an investigation into the matter. (R. 

at 6–7).  

 The hedge fund managers (hereinafter “Petitioners”) commenced an 

action in the United States District Court for the District of Fordham on 

September 6, 2018.  (R. at 7).   The Petitioners sought compensatory damages 

from Alcollezione, Marconi, Factor and Cato in connection for their purchases 

of Alcollezione ADRs in reliance on allegedly false and misleading statements 

delivered at the Annual Meeting and published on the Investor Relations 

section of the company’s webpage.  (R. at 7).  Specifically, the Petitioners 

alleged that they committed securities fraud in violation of Section 10(b) of the 
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Securities Act and Rule 10b-5.  (R. at 7).  The Petitioners settled their claims 

with Alcollezione, leaving just the three executives.  (R. at 7).     

 Marconi, Factor and Cato each filed separate Rule 12(b)(6) motions on 

October 17, 2018 to dismiss the action for failure to state a claim upon which 

relief could be granted, asserting that they were not involved in any domestic 

transaction within the purview of U.S. securities law.  (R. at 7).  Cato and 

Factor further moved to dismiss the complaint against them because the 

Petitioners failed to adequately allege a primary violation of Section 10(b).  (R. 

at 7).  After the Petitioners settled their claims against Alcollezione and 

Marconi, District Court granted Factor’s motion to dismiss, agreeing there were 

insufficient facts to give rise to a strong inference of scienter as required for a 

Section 10(b) claim brought by the Petitioners, but rejected Cato’s motion. (R. 

at 8).   

Cato sought interlocutory appeal on two issues, first whether the District 

Court’s finding that the defendants were involved in a domestic transaction is 

alone sufficient for the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b) and Rule 

10b-5 and, second, whether Cato could be held primarily liable for Marconi’s 

allegedly false or misleading statements under 10b-5(a) and (c).  (R. at 8).   

STANDARD OF REVIEW 
 

 Under Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, a plaintiff’s 

complaint “must contain sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to state a 

claim for relief that is plausible on its face.”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 
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678 (2009).  A district court’s dismissal for failure to state a claim is reviewed 

de novo.  Lormand v. US Unwired, Inc., 565 F.3d 228, 232 (5th Cir. 2009). 

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 
 

 The Fourteenth Circuit’s decision below correctly determined that a 

domestic transaction is insufficient for the extraterritorial application of 

Section 10(b).   A presumption against extraterritoriality is applied to the 

transaction, and the facts indicate a transaction so predominantly foreign as to 

render an application of Section 10(b) impermissible.  Thus, while a domestic 

transaction is necessary to state a claim under Section 10(b), a finding that the 

transaction was domestic is not sufficient to invoke Section 10(b).  Finally, as a 

matter of policy, it has been longstanding SEC and Supreme Court practices to 

limit the liability exposure of foreign corporations on the basis of their conduct.  

 Even if this Court determines that a domestic transaction alone is 

sufficient for Petitioners to state a claim under Section 10(b), Petitioners failed 

to state a claim upon which relief could be granted, because the Petitioners 

failed to adequately allege a primary violation of Section 10(b).  An employee 

who, at the insistence of a superior, inserts a false or misleading statement into 

investor materials, is not subject to primary liability under Rule 10b-5(a) or (c).  

Rule 10b-5’s misstatement and scheme provisions are mutually exclusive, 

therefore conduct that amounts to mere misstatements cannot serve as the 

basis for a scheme without more.  Petitioner’s reliance on Lorenzo is ill-placed 

as its facts are too distinguishable to be controlling in this case.  However, even 

if Lorenzo is controlling, Cato’s conduct does not satisfy the test established in 
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Lorenzo as Cato was not a disseminator and lacked the requisite intent to be 

subject to Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).   

ARGUMENT 

I. A DOMESTIC TRANSACTION ALONE IS INSUFFICIENT TO PROPERLY 

STATE A CLAIM UNDER SECTION 10(b).  
 

 Petitioners failed to establish an actionable Section 10(b) claim because 

the transaction at issue is so predominantly foreign that an application of the 

Securities Exchange Act would be impermissibly extraterritorial.  

A. The Morrison Standard. 

 Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act makes it unlawful “[t]o use or employ, 

in connection with the purchase or sale of any security . . . any manipulative or 

deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations 

as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public 

interest or for the protection of investors.”  15 U.S.C. § 78j(b).  Thus, Section 

10(b) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 provides the anti-fraud 

regulations for parties within the jurisdiction of the United States.  Id.  

To state a cause of action under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b–5, plaintiff 

must allege that defendants: (1) in connection with a purchase or sale of 

securities; (2) with scienter; (3) made a material false representation or omitted 

to disclose material information; (4) upon which plaintiff relied; (5) proximately 

causing plaintiff to suffer injury.  Dura Pharm., Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 

342 (2005).  Rule 10b–5 was promulgated under Section 10(b), and “does not 

extend beyond conduct encompassed by § 10(b)'s prohibition.”  United States v. 

O'Hagan, 521 U.S. 642, 651 (1997).  Therefore, since Section 10(b) was found 
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to not apply extraterritorial, neither can Rule 10b–5.  Morrison v. Nat'l 

Australia Bank Ltd., 561 U.S. 247, 261–65 (2010).  Congress ordinarily 

legislates with respect to domestic, not foreign matters, and when a statute 

gives no clear indication of an extraterritorial application, it has none.  Id. at 

255.   

  Morrison established that a transactional securities fraud violates 

Section 10(b) when the purchase or sale is made in the United States, or 

involves a security listed on a domestic exchange.  Id. at 269–70.  It was this 

Court’s view in Morrison that Section 10(b) applies only to securities 

transactions listed on domestic exchanges, and domestic transactions in other 

securities.  Id. at 267.  With regard to securities not registered on domestic 

exchanges, the exclusive focus is on domestic purchases and sales.  Id. at 268.  

To sufficiently allege the existence of a “domestic transaction in other 

securities,” plaintiffs must allege facts indicating that irrevocable liability was 

incurred or that title was transferred within the United States.  Absolute 

Activist Value Master Fund Ltd. v. Ficeto, 677 F.3d 60, 62 (2d Cir. 2012).   

Although Morrison did not assess the sufficiency of foreign transactions, 

this Court had no reason to do so because the transaction in Morrison failed to 

meet the standard of a domestic transaction.  Morrison, 561 U.S. at 262; see 

Parkcentral Glob. Hub Ltd. v. Porsche Auto. Holdings SE, 763 F.3d 198, 218 

(2d Cir. 2014) (Leval, J., concurring).  However, Circuit Courts are split in 

interpreting Morrison on whether a domestic transaction alone is sufficient to 
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properly state a claim under Section 10(b).  See e.g., Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 

216; Stoyas v. Toshiba Corp., 896 F.3d 933, 952 (9th Cir. 2018).   

1. The Second Circuit’s presumption against 
extraterritoriality approach properly applies Morrison.  

  

 The Second Circuit’s holding in Parkcentral should be controlling. 

Parkcentral held that while a domestic transaction or listing is necessary to 

state a claim under Section 10(b), a finding that these transactions were 

domestic is not sufficient to conclude that the plaintiffs' invocation of Section 

10(b) was appropriately domestic.  Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 216.  Thus, the 

domestic execution of the plaintiffs' agreements could not alone suffice to 

invoke Section 10(b) liability with respect to the defendants' alleged conduct in 

this case.  Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 215–16.  If so, the domestic execution 

would subject to U.S. securities laws conduct that occurred in a foreign 

country, concerning securities in a foreign company, without any congressional 

provision addressing the conflicts of U.S. and foreign law nearly certain to 

occur.  Id.  This would be contrary to the Supreme Court’s holding in Morrison 

that sought to limit extraterritoriality.  Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266.  This Court 

has consistently stated that there is a “presumption that United States law 

governs domestically but does not rule the world” and this presumption “serves 

to protect against unintended clashes between our laws and those of other 

nations which could result in international discord.”  Microsoft Corp. v. AT & T 

Corp., 550 U.S. 437, 454 (2007); EEOC v. Arabian American Oil Co., 499 U.S. 

244, 248 (1991).  
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 In Parkcentral, the securities-based swap agreements referencing foreign 

shares were completed in the United States.  763 F.3d at 212.  Although the 

securities-based swap agreements were concluded domestically, the VW shares 

they referenced were traded only on foreign exchanges.  Id. at 207.  Moreover, 

Porsche's allegedly deceptive conduct occurred primarily in Germany, even 

though some of Porsche's statements were available in the United States.  Id.  

Thus, in order to comply with the cautiousness of Morrison, the Second Circuit 

in Parkcentral held that a domestic transaction in security was insufficient to 

state a claim for Section 10(b), and a facts and circumstances inquiry into the 

transaction was necessary.  Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 217; see Morrison, 561 

U.S. at 262.  Section 10(b) does not mention extraterritoriality, therefore the 

presumption against extraterritoriality applied in Parkcentral and Morrison 

should apply in this case.  See generally Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 217; 

Morrison, 561 U.S. at 262. 

 Here, the Petitioners in this case made a domestic purchase of a security 

that the foreign company had no involvement in.  (R. at 4).  However, the 

inquiry should not end there.  Similar to Parkcentral, the elements of this case 

were so foreign-dominant as to render the transaction impermissibly 

extraterritorial under Section 10(b).  First, Alcollezione was not involved with 

the ADRs and arguably had no knowledge of their existence nor intent to create 

them.  The company only listed its shares on the Borsa Italiana, rejected calls 

to open a subsidiary in the United States, and declined the opportunity to 

sponsor an ADR to access the American markets.  (R. at 3–4).   
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 Second, all relevant conduct, besides Petitioners’ unilateral decision to 

purchase the ADRs, occurred in Italy and by Italian defendants.  (R. at 2–8).  

The assurances were drafted by Respondent, an Italian national, at the 

direction of her boss, an Italian resident, and posted in financial statements 

drafted by the company’s CFO, another Italian resident.  (R. at 6).  The alleged 

misstatements were all drafted at the company’s headquarters and delivered at 

its Annual Meeting, each of which were in Milan.  (R. at 6).  Therefore, because 

Parkcentral involved statements made in the United States, the elements at 

issue in this case are arguably more foreign-dominant than that of Parkcentral.  

While the dissent argued that the company was targeting American investors 

by posting the investor materials in English on Alcollezione’s website, this is a 

stretch.  English is a common language of business, spoken across Europe and 

much of the world.1 

 Furthermore, the purchase of unsponsored Alcollezione ADRs is 

insufficient to apply Section 10(b).  Unsponsored ADRS exist without the 

involvement of the foreign company.  See Am. Depositary Receipts, Release No. 

274 (May 23, 1991) (“A depositary may establish an unsponsored facility 

without participation by (or even necessarily the acquiescence of) the issuer of 

the deposited securities”).  Whereas sponsored ADRs are established jointly by 

the foreign company and the depository institution.  See id.  With sponsored 

 
1Share of population with knowledge of English in non-native European countries as of 
March 2019, STATISTA (2019); https://www.statista.com/statistics/990547/countries-in-
europe-for-english/ (demonstrating a majority of European countries have proficiency in 
English). 
 

https://www.statista.com/statistics/990547/countries-in-europe-for-english/
https://www.statista.com/statistics/990547/countries-in-europe-for-english/
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ADRs, the foreign company, the issuer of the deposited securities, enters into 

an agreement with the depository and signs the Form F-6 registration 

agreement.  See id.  Thus, with sponsored ADRs, as opposed to unsponsored, 

there is a much closer nexus between the foreign company and the purchasers 

of ADRs.  See generally id.   

 In this case, Doris Schutt repeatedly sought Marconi out and insisted 

that Alcollezione be traded in the United States.  (R. at 3–4).  Schutt used her 

position at a United States depository institution, Hansen Bank and Trust, to 

set up an unsponsored ADR and it was Hansen Bank and Trust that filed the 

Form F-6 to register the unsponsored ADRs.  (R. at 4).  Furthermore, it was 

Hansen Bank and Trust employees that assisted the Petitioners in purchasing 

the ADRs.  (R. at 4).  Marconi did not even give Schutt explicit consent to set 

up the ADRs, rather he explained that he left the more nuanced financial 

decisions to Factor and simply stated, “I’m more of a marketing guy, but any 

friend of Factor’s is a friend of mine.”  (R. at 4).  The final interaction between 

Schutt and Alcollezione was an email where Schutt congratulated Factor on the 

successful announcement and stated that she was looking forward to the 

company’s continued success.  (R. at 6).  Therefore, Alcollezione arguably did 

not have knowledge of the ADRs nor of the exchanges occurring in the United 

States, and subjecting Respondent to Section 10(b) would be contrary to the 

purposes of the Securities Exchange Act.  Thus, although the transaction was 

domestically executed, the elements in this case are so predominantly foreign 

that the issue is impermissibly extraterritorial.   
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2. The Ninth Circuit’s bright-line standard conflicts with 
Morrison. 

 

 While the dissent in this case believes that the Ninth Circuit’s decision in 

Stoyas v. Toshiba should be followed and that a domestic transaction is 

sufficient to invoke Section 10(b), the presumption against extraterritoriality 

established in Morrison prevents that conclusion.  896 F.3d at 952; (R. at 27).  

Moreover, Toshiba’s application of Section 10(b) to a domestic transaction is 

clearly distinguishable from the facts of the present case as to render this 

domestic transaction impermissibly extraterritorial.   

 In Toshiba, Toshiba Corp. admitted to substantial institutional 

accounting and tax fraud and was charged with violating Section 10(b) of the 

Exchange Act.  896 F.3d at 937–38.  Toshiba involved a foreign company’s 

ADRs sold by four depository institutions rather than the one, Hasen Bank and 

Trust, in this case.  Id. at 949; (R. at 4).  Thus, Toshiba Corp. established a 

stronger connection to the United States than Alcollezione.  Toshiba Corp. 

knew of and facilitated the ADRs which was a central issue in the case, unlike 

Alcollezione which did not agree to nor facilitate setting up the ADRs.  Toshiba, 

896 F.3d at 937; (R. at 4).  In fact, Alcollezione explicitly rejected sponsoring an 

ADR and Marconi, Alcollezione’s CEO, even stated that “he no longer had the 

temperament for American business.”  (R. at 3).  Toshiba acknowledges this 

distinction when considering its facts distinguishable from Parkcentral and 

states that there was no allegation that the defendants in Parkcentral knew 

about or facilitated the domestic transaction.  Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 950; 
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Parkcentral, 763 F.3d at 217.  Therefore, Toshiba Corp.’s connection to 

American business was closer and more impactful than Alcollezione.  

 Furthermore, the Ninth Circuit in Toshiba argued that, “it may very well 

be that the Morrison test in some cases will result in the Exchange Act's 

application to claims of manipulation of share value from afar,” yet this is 

contrary to the Supreme Court’s intent to limit extraterritoriality in Morrison.  

Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 950; Morrison, 561 U.S. at 266.  Morrison explicitly found 

that “when a statute gives no clear indication of an extraterritorial application, 

it has none,” and clearly held that “§ 10(b) contains nothing to suggest it 

applies abroad.”  Morrison, 561 U.S. at 262.  Although the unsponsored ADRs 

in this case were set up in United States by a United States depository 

institution, “it is a rare case of prohibited extraterritorial application that lacks 

all contact with the territory of the United States.”  Id. at 266 (emphasis 

added).  Thus, Morrison stands for the “presumption against extraterritoriality” 

in regard to Section 10(b) and a cautious approach should be taken before 

applying Section 10(b) abroad.  Id.  Toshiba is incorrect for presuming that this 

Court in Morrison desired a bright-line rule that a domestic transaction was 

sufficient for the extraterritorial application of Section 10(b).  Toshiba, 896 F.3d 

at 950; see Morrison, 561 U.S. at 265 (“But we do not say, as the concurrence 

seems to think, that the presumption against extraterritoriality is a ‘clear 

statement rule,’ . . . Assuredly context can be consulted as well.”).  

 The most alarming distinction to this case is that Toshiba Corp. admitted 

to substantial institutional accounting fraud and accompanying restatements 
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of pre-tax profits after a series of internal investigations prompted by a 

Japanese government order that revealed widespread, deliberately fraudulent 

accounting practices designed to inflate Toshiba's profit statements over an at 

least six-year period.  Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 937 n. 1.  There was no such 

admission by Alcollezione or any of its former executives.  In fact, Petitioners in 

this case settled their claims against Alcollezione and its Marconi, and no 

investigation regarding the matter has been commenced by Italian or European 

authorities.  (R. at 7–8).  Thus, the deceptive conduct punished by Section 

10(b) has not been sufficiently established in this case unlike in Toshiba.  

Toshiba, 896 F.3d at 950. 

 Finally, as a matter of policy, it is important to recognize that the Second 

Circuit is the vanguard of federal appellate courts on securities law.2  This is 

evident by the fact that in the past six years, over one hundred cases have 

cited to Parkcentral, while in the past two years, only five cases have cited to 

Toshiba.  See generally Parkcentral, 763 F.3d 198; Toshiba, 896 F.3d 933.  

Moreover, although no foreign investigation has begun in the present case, 

there may be future efforts, which could be hindered if United States Courts 

are permitted to assert jurisdiction over foreign parties under such weak ties to 

the United States.3   

 
2 Karen Patton Seymour, Securities and Financial Regulation in the Second Circuit, 85 

FORDHAM L. REV. 225 
(2016) (“[M]any courts have long looked to [the Second Circuit’s] jurisprudence for 
guidance in deciding novel or complex securities law issues”). 
3 Nicholas M. Wooldridge, Morrison and the Presumption Against Extraterritoriality: A 
Metaphoric Misadventure Or A Part of A Broader Shift? (February 24, 2016). Available at 
SSRN: https://ssrn.com/abstract=2737533 (“[T]he Supreme Court has also chided lower 
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The Petitioners should seek recourse through foreign litigation, utilizing a 

more direct connection and interest to the conduct at issue, rather than 

expanding the reach of United States statutes.4  Further, it is important to note 

that the Petitioners settled with Marconi and with Alcollezione.  (R. at 7–8).  As 

such, precedent should be made on the main players, not on a tangential 

defendant, as this may deter foreign companies from bringing business to the 

United States.5  Therefore, Respondent has successfully established that the 

purchase of unsponsored American Depository Receipts is insufficient to 

subject Alcollezione to U.S. securities law under Section 10(b) of the Securities 

Exchange Act because the domestic transaction is so predominantly foreign as 

to render it impermissibly extraterritorial. 

II. AN EMPLOYEE WHO, AT THE INSISTENCE OF A SUPERIOR, INSERTS A 

FALSE OR MISLEADING STATEMENT INTO INVESTOR MATERIALS, IS 
NOT SUBJECT TO PRIMARY LIABILITY UNDER RULE 10b-5(a) OR (c).  

 

It is undisputed that “the starting point in every case involving 

construction of a statute is the language itself.”  Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfelder, 

425 U.S. 185, 197 (1976) (quoting Blue Chip Stamps v. Manor Drug Stores, 

421 U.S. 723, 756 (1975)).  This Court has specifically emphasized “[a]dherence 

to the text in defining the conduct covered by 10b.”  Central Bank of Denver, 

 
courts, for disregarding the long-standing rule of statutory interpretation, the presumption 
against extraterritorial application of U.S. federal statutes.”) 
4 Id.; Robert Bartlett , Matthew D. Cain, Jill E. Fisch & Steven Davidoff Solomon, The Myth 
of Morrison: Securities Fraud Litigation against Foreign Issuers, 74 BUS. LAW. 967 
(2019) (“Morrison's holding was consistent with longstanding SEC practices . . . to leave 
substantial parts of the regulation of these issuers to their home jurisdictions. Morrison 
was also consistent with the overall structure of the federal securities laws, which limits 
the liability exposure of market participants based on the impact of their conduct.”) 
5 Charles T. Williams, III, Semerenko v. Cendant Corp.: Has the Time Come to Prune the 
"Judicial Oak" ?, 27 DEL. J. CORP. L. 587, 605 (2002is 
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NIA. v. First Bank of Denver, N.A., 511 U.S. 164, 174 (1994).  That being said, 

the statutory and regulatory framework of the antifraud provision of the federal 

securities laws prohibit two types of misconduct in connection to purchases 

and sales of securities: (1) fraudulent misstatements and omissions; and (2) 

fraudulent schemes and conduct.  Fraudulent misstatements and omissions 

are proscribed by Section 10(b), and Rule 10b-5(b).  Fraudulent schemes and 

conduct are proscribed by Section 10(b), and Rules 10b-5(a) and (c).   

Section 10(b) makes it unlawful for “any person directly or indirectly . . . 

to use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security . . . 

any manipulative or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of” SEC 

rules.  Rule 10b-5 implements section 10(b) and makes it unlawful: “(a) To 

employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, (b) To make any untrue 

statement of a material fact . . ., or (c) To engage in any act, practice, or course 

of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit . . . in 

connection with the purchase or sale of any security.”  17 C.F.R. 240.10b-5 

(2012).  Liability under Rule 10b-5 is limited to conduct that is itself 

manipulative or deceptive.  See In the Matter of John P. Flannery and James D. 

Hopkins, SEC Release No. 3981, 2014 WL 7145625, at 12.  Analyzing Rule 

10b-5, the lower court properly found that Cato’s conduct “cannot serve as a 

basis for primary liability under subsection (b) because [Cato] was not the 

“maker” of the statements.”  (R. at 16).  Further, the lower court properly 

found, notwithstanding Lorenzo v. SEC, 139 S. Ct. 1094 (2019), that Cato’s 



R09 

 
 

18 

conduct does not result in primary liability under subsections (a) and (c).  (R. 

at 17).    

A. Rule 10b-5’s misstatement and scheme provisions are mutually 
exclusive.  
 

Since Cato did not “make” the misstatements at issue here, relieving her 

of primary liability under Rule 10b-5(b), she cannot be held to be primarily 

liable for violations of subsections (a) and (c) because the misstatement and 

scheme provisions of Rule 10b-5 are mutually exclusive.  The SEC divided the 

conduct prohibited by Rule 10b-5 into prohibitions against misstatements and 

omissions (Rule 10b-5(b)), and prohibitions against fraudulent schemes and 

conduct (Rule 10b-5(a) and (c)).  See Brief for Petitioner Francis V. Lorenzo, No. 

17-1077 (Aug. 20, 2018).  It is well-known that statutes and rules should be 

construed so that effect is given to all their provisions, so that no part will be 

inoperative or superfluous, void or insignificant.  Hibbs v. Winn, 542 U.S. 88, 

101 (2004).  To hold that an individual can be liable for a misstatement he did 

not “make” under the scheme provisions, without more, would make Rule 10b-

5(b) superfluous.   

This Court, in Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 

established a bright-line test to determine the circumstances under which a 

defendant can be held primarily liable for misstatements under Section 10(b) of 

the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5(b).  564 U.S. 135 (2008).  A defendant may 

be held primarily liable under Rule 10b-5(b) only if the defendant was the 

“maker” of the misstatement—i.e., had the “ultimate authority” over the 

statements.  Id. at 142–43.  As such, it follows naturally that a claim relying on 
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only facts pertaining to the making of statements cannot be relied on for 

liability under the other subsections of Rule 10b-5 when they do not satisfy 

liability under Rule 10b-5(b).   

Here, the District Court correctly held that Cato did not make the 

misstatements at issue here.  (R. at 8, 16).  Cato’s acts amounted to only 

secondary conduct or ministerial acts.  See (R. at 5–6).  This Court, in Janus, 

rejected the argument that these types of ministerial acts could be grounds for 

liability under Rule 10b-5.  Janus, 564 U.S. at 143.  Defendants who 

“contribute substantial assistance to the making of a statement but do not 

actually make it” cannot be held primarily liable under the securities law.  Id.  

This analysis is not limited to Rule 10b-5(b) because there is nothing in the 

Janus decision to suggest such a limitation.  For example, this Court often 

identifies Rule 10b-5 in general and not specifically Rule 10b-5(b) throughout 

its opinion.  See, e.g., id.  To allow Cato’s conduct to serve as the basis for 

scheme liability would render Janus’ distinction between claims for 

misstatements and claims for fraudulent acts and schemes meaningless.  

Further, there would be no clear distinction between primary and secondary 

liability for private suits. 

B. This Court’s decision in Lorenzo is too distinguishable to be 
binding on this case. 

 

This Court, in Lorenzo, held that an individual could be primarily liable 

for violating Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) for misstatements he did not “make” without 

being liable under Rule 10b-5(b).  Lorenzo,139 S. Ct. at 1100–01.  Prior to 

Lorenzo, courts have treated misstatements as distinct from claims involving 
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fraudulent schemes.  See, e.g., Desai v. Deutsche Bank Sec., Ltd., 573 F.3d 

931, 940 (9th Cir. 2009) (recognizing that manipulative conduct has always 

been distinct from claims involving manipulation and fraudulent schemes).  

Notwithstanding Lorenzo, the lower court properly held that Lorenzo did not 

apply do to its distinguishable facts.  R. at 17.   

In Lorenzo, the SEC charged Francis Lorenzo, the director of investment 

banking at a brokerage firm, with violating Rule 10b-5 for sending two false 

and misleading emails to investors.  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1099.  Lorenzo and 

his firm were hired by a company to sell debentures, a form of debt secured by 

the debtor’s earning power.  Id.  Despite Lorenzo being told of the financial 

state of the company and it publicly disclosing this information, Lorenzo sent 

two emails, authored and directed by his boss, to prospective investors 

describing the debenture offering.  Id.  The emails omitted these disclosures 

and were signed by Lorenzo, identifying him as “Vice President—Investment 

Banking,” and inviting the recipients to “call with any questions.”  Id.   

After the SEC concluded that Lorenzo was in violation of Rule 10b-5, 

§10(b), and §17(a)(1), Lorenzo appealed the decision, arguing that he lacked the 

intent required to be in violation of these provisions.  Id. at 1099–1100.  This 

argument was rejected, and Lorenzo did not challenge it thereafter.  Id. at 

1100.  He also argued, in light of Janus, that he could not be held liable under 

subsection (b) of Rule 10b-5 because his boss asked him to send the emails, 

supplied the central content, and approved the messages for distribution.  Id.  

The Court of Appeals nonetheless sustained the SEC’s finding that, by 
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knowingly disseminating false information to prospective investors, he had 

violated other parts of Rule 10b-5.  Id.   

This Court affirmed the Circuits decision concluding that “dissemination 

of false or misleading statements with intent to defraud can fall within the 

scope of subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-5 . . . even if the disseminator did 

not “make” the statements and consequently falls outside subsection (b) of the 

Rule”  Id. at 1100–01.  This Court stated that “[b]y sending emails he 

understood to contain material untruths, Lorenzo “employ[ed]” a “device,” 

“scheme,” and “artifice to defraud” within the meaning of subsection (a) of the 

Rule, §10(b), and §17(a)(1). By the same conduct, he “engage[d] in a[n] act, 

practice, or course of business” that “operate[d] . . . as a fraud or deceit” under 

subsection (c) of the Rule.”  Id. at 1101.   

While this Court addressed the scope of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) in Lorenzo, 

it should not hold its decision in Lorenzo as binding in this case as it is 

distinguishable in significant ways.  

1. Lorenzo was the defendant in an SEC enforcement action. 

Here, we are dealing with a private suit instituted by American hedge 

fund managers.  (R. at 7).  As such, this Court should be hesitant to definitively 

extend its holding in Lorenzo to private actions.  While a private right of action 

is implied under Section 10(b), this Court, given concerns for this judicially 

created private cause of action, has continuously cautioned against its 

expansion.  See Superintendent of Ins. of N.Y. v. Bankers Life & Casualty Co., 

404 U.S. 6, 13, n. 9 (1971); Stoneridge Investment Partners, LLC v. Scientific 
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Atlanta, Inc., 552 U.S. 148, 165 (2008).  Therefore, private actions must be 

given narrow dimensions, especially given that Congress did not authorize 

these private actions when it first enacted the statute and it did not expand it 

when it revisited the law.  Janus Capital Group, Inc. v. First Derivative Traders, 

564 U.S 135, 142 (2011) (citing Stoneridge, 552 U.S. at 167).   

To allow a private plaintiff to do an end-run around private action limits 

established by this Court’s precedent would render decisions like Janus 

pointless.  It is critical that this Court maintains its view of limited private 

action especially in a case like this where petitioners have already settled with 

the company and the primarily liable actor under Rule 10b-5(b).  (R. at 8).  A 

holding to the contrary would allow secondary actors to be targeted by 

plaintiffs merely because of their behind-the-scenes conduct, even if the 

primary violator has already settled or received a verdict.  This is literally what 

the petitioner in Lorenzo warned about in his brief to this Court and the SEC 

was convinced would not happen: meritless private suits against defendants 

who would otherwise be secondary actors insulated from private suits.  See 

Brief for Petitioner Francis V. Lorenzo, No. 17-1077 (Aug. 20, 2018); Brief of 

Respondent Securities and Exchange Commission, No. 17-1077 (Oct. 5, 2018).   

Further, the SEC emphasized how the decision in Lorenzo was tied to 

enforcement actions, not private actions.  For example, the SEC stated in its 

brief for Lorenzo that “[i]nterpreting . . . Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) according to their 

plain meaning in this Commission enforcement action would not change any of 

those requirements.” Brief of Respondent Securities and Exchange 
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Commission, No. 17-1077 at 14 (rebutting petitioners claim that the circuit 

court’s decision will have an adverse effect on private actions) (emphasis 

added).  The SEC was not challenging the scope of Rule 10b-5 as it relates to 

private actions.  It was only concerned with its own enforcement actions.  In 

actuality, it makes sense that this Court in Lorenzo would permit a defendant 

in an SEC enforcement action be found to have violated subsections (a) and (c) 

without violating subsection (b) given the SEC’s broad enforcement authority.  

The SEC has the right to assert claims regardless of whether the defendant was 

subject to primary or secondary liability.  See Lorenzo, 139 U.S. at 1104; 15 

U.S.C. § 78t(e).   

This authority, however, should not be extended to private actions, where 

only a primary actor can be held liable.  See Janus, 564 U.S. at 143 n. 6 (“[F]or 

Central Bank to have any meaning, there must be some distinction between 

those who are primarily liable (and thus may be pursued in private suits) and 

those who are secondarily liable (and thus may not be pursued in private 

suits).”).    

2. The conduct in Lorenzo constituted additional steps 

beyond drafting misstatements. 
 

Beyond the fact that Lorenzo was an SEC enforcement case, Lorenzo is 

also distinguishable by the facts which led to the SEC enforcement action.  

While this Court in Lorenzo did not explicitly state this, it seems clear that 

Lorenzo’s conduct went beyond the misstatements at issue in his case.  See 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1099.  Lorenzo committed deceptive conduct by 

personally disseminating misstatements directly to potential investors.  Id.  In 
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these misstatements, Lorenzo identified himself, and invited investors to reach 

out to him with any questions or concerns.  Id.  This implied that Lorenzo was 

willing to further the misstatements beyond the statements themselves, thus 

amounting to a scheme.  It would have been impossible  

Here, Cato drafted assurances stating that Frizzantissimo was to be 

approved and ready for market in the second quarter of 2018.  (R. at 6).  It was 

unclear at the time whether it would run afoul of any beverage regulations.  (R. 

at 5).  Cato was merely concerned that it would be “unlikely in the short-term” 

that it would be in compliance with the regulations.  (R. at 5).  Petitioners have 

produced nothing to indicate that Cato, unlike in Lorenzo, actually knew or 

was told that Frizzantissimo would not be in compliance with the regulations.  

(R. at 1–7).  Further, Cato only placed these assurances in a disclosure that 

was subsequently inserted into Marconi’s slide deck and footnoted in Factor’s 

pro-forma financial statements.  (R. at 6).  There was no direct contact between 

Cato and the hedge fund managers nor did Cato invite them to call her with 

any questions regarding Frizzantissimo or the assurances.  See (R. at 5–6).  

Cato does not even indicate who she is in these assurances, unlike Lorenzo 

who identified himself in the emails by name and stated that he was the Vice 

President of Investment Banking.  See (R. at 5–6); see also Brief of Respondent 

Securities and Exchange Commission, No. 17-1077 (“[P]ititioner did not play an 

‘undisclosed,’ behind-the-scenes role as a preliminary actor.”) (citation 

omitted). 
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Despite this Court not making this clear in Lorenzo, it seems more 

appropriate to require that, in order for Cato to be primarily liable under 

subsections (a) and (c), there must be conduct beyond making misstatements 

that would otherwise trigger liability under subsection (b).  See Lentell v. 

Merrill Lynch & Co., 396 F.3d 161, 177 (2d Cir. 2005); SEC v. Kelley, 817 F. 

Supp. 2d 340, 343-44 (S.D.N.Y. 2011).  This rationale is consistent with lower 

court’s interpretation of subsections (a) and (c)—i.e., the scheme liability 

provisions.  These courts have found that “the scheme must include deceptions 

beyond misrepresentations and omissions.”  See Public Pension Fund Grp. V. 

KV Pharms. Co., 679 F.3d 972, 987 (8th Cir. 2012) (“We join the Seventh and 

Ninth Circuits in recognizing a scheme liability claim must be based on 

conduct beyond misrepresentations or omissions actionable under Rule 10b-

5(b).”)  

As such, this Court should not rely on a case like Lorenzo with such 

distinguishable facts to extend primary liability to a defendant who, not only is 

being pursued under a private action, which this Court has been hesitant to 

expand the scope of, but clearly does not go to the extremes to facilitate a 

scheme as the defendant in Lorenzo.  Permitting the plaintiffs to recast any 

misstatement or omission as a “scheme” or “artifice to defraud,” which seems 

to be the case here, would erode the limitations on Rule 10b-5(b) and shift 

private claims toward the scheme liability provisions.   
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C. Even if Lorenzo is controlling, Cato is not primarily liable for the 
misleading statements under subsections (a) and (c) of Rule 10b-

5. 
 

As previously stated, Lorenzo held that “those who do not “make” 

statements (as Janus defined “make”), but who disseminate false or misleading 

statements to potential investors with the intent to defraud, can be found to 

have violated the other parts of Rule 10b-5, subsections (a) and (c) . . . .” 

Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. 1099.  Even if this Court finds that Lorenzo is controlling, it 

should still affirm the lower court’s finding that Cato is not primarily liable 

under subsections (a) and (c) for her alleged conduct.    

1. Cato is not a disseminator.   

As this Court stated in Lorenzo, “Janus would remain relevant (and 

preclude liability) where an individual neither makes nor disseminates false 

information . . . .”  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1103.  Here, it is clear that Cato is 

not the “maker” of the assurances as they were drafted at the request of her 

superior Marconi, who, if anyone, retained the “ultimate authority” over their 

drafting and delivery.  See Janus, 564 U.S. 142–44.  However, as this Court in 

Lorenzo held, “those who do not “make” statements . . . but who disseminate 

false or misleading statements to potential investors with the intent to defraud, 

can be found to have violated the other parts of Rule 10b-5, subsections (a) 

and (c) . . . .”  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1099 (emphasis added).  As such, if 

Lorenzo is controlling, Cato is only potentially primarily liable for her conduct if 

it can be proven that she disseminated false or misleading statements with an 

intent to defraud.  It is clear, however, that Cato does not satisfy this test.   
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Black’s Law Dictionary defines dissemination as “[t]he act of spreading, 

diffusing, or dispersing; esp., the circulation of defamatory matter. . . . [t]he 

extension of the influence or establishment of a thing, such as an idea, book, 

or document.”6  Merriam-Webster Dictionary indicates that to “disseminate” 

means “to spread abroad as though sowing seed” or “to disperse throughout.”7  

Synonyms of the word disseminate include: to broadcast, circulate, propagate, 

and spread.8  Here, Cato drafted assurances and condensed them into a 

disclosure that was subsequently inserted into Marconi’s slide deck and 

footnoted in Factor’s pro-forma financial statements and later posted on the 

company’s webpage.  See (R. at 6).  Nothing in the record indicates that Cato 

took part in placing these documents onto the company’s website, therefore 

this Court must determine whether to the drafting and condensing of the 

assurances by Cato equates to dissemination.  

In regard to the drafting and condensing of the assurances, courts have 

made clear that preparing something is not the same as disseminating.  See 

e.g., Suppa v. Montano, 1989 U.S. Dist. (“The Court has little difficulty 

determining that those who prepare and disseminate a materially false 

prospectus . . . may be liable . . . .”) (emphasis added).  Just because someone 

prepares or drafts something does not guarantee it will be spread or be 

dispersed.  That in itself requires an additional act beyond the drafting of such 

 
6 Black’s Law Dictionary: Pocket Edition (5th ed. 2016). 
7 The Merriam-Webster.com Dictionary, https://www.merriam-

webster.com/dictionary/disseminate (last visited Feb. 19, 2020).   
8 Id. 
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statements.  To hold that Cato’s drafting of assurances is sufficient to qualify 

as dissemination would contradict this Court’s own analogy in Janus stating, 

“when a speechwriter drafts a speech, the content is entirely within the control 

of the person who delivers it.  And it is the speaker who takes credit—or 

blame—for what is ultimately said.”  Janus, 564 U.S. at 143.   

2. Cato lacked the requisite scienter to be found primarily 
liable under subsections (a) or (c). 

 

While this Court in Lorenzo did not have to consider whether the Lorenzo 

satisfied the scienter requirement, Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1100, this Court 

should find that Cato lacked the requisite scienter to be found liable under 

subsection (a) or (c).  The Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 

(hereinafter PSLRA) requires a plaintiff to plead, “facts giving rise to a strong 

inference that the defendant acted with the required state of mind.”  15 U.S.C. 

§ 78u-4(b)(2)(A) (emphasis added).  This Court has defined intent—often 

referred to as scienter—as a “mental state embracing intent to deceive, 

manipulate, or defraud.”  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1100 (citing Aaron v. SEC, 446 

U.S. 680, 686, 100 S. Ct. 1945, 64 L. Ed. 2d 611, and n. 5 (1980).  Cato lacked 

the requisite scienter because her actions were not taken with any intent to 

defraud the hedge fund managers.   

A component of intent is the truth or falsity of the statements.  A plaintiff 

must establish that the defendant knew or was aware the statements were 

false at the time they were made.  Lustgraaf v. Behrens, 619 F.3d 867, 874 (8th 

Cir. 2010); see Gallagher v. Abbot Labs., 269 F.3d 806, 808-09 (7th Cir. 2001) 

(finding that there is no continuous duty to disclose, and only in certain 
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circumstances is there a duty to correct a statement that was false at the time 

it was made).  Further, a plaintiff may not bring up a defendant’s statement 

and then show that it was false after-the-fact.  Lustgraaf, 619 F.3d at 874.  

Here, the hedge fund managers failed to establish that the statements at issue 

were false at the time they were made.  In this case, Marconi, anticipating that 

investors would want assurances regarding Frizzantissimo’s regulatory 

compliance, requested Cato to provide such assurances.  (R. at 5).  Cato, 

believing that compliance with regulations “would be an uphill climb” and 

“seemed unlikely in the short-term,” never definitely wrote off the possibility 

that the beverage would be in compliance.  (R. at 5).  There was still a chance, 

however small, that the beverage would be in compliance with the regulators.   

If anything, the issue only arises after-the-fact once the regulatory 

authority found the process to not be in compliance.  (R. at 6).  The hedge fund 

managers merely ran the risk, as is to be expected with investments, of there 

being issues with the company in regard its compliance with regulators after-

the-fact.  Further, there is nothing in the record to suggest that it was, in fact, 

these statements that led to the stocks (and ADRs) increasing and thereafter 

falling, especially considering the fact that the hedge fund managers had 

access to Marconi’s slide deck which included an excerpt from an industry 

market analysis detailing the boom of hard-seltzer in general.  (R. at 6).   

Beyond the fact that these statements were not false, there is nothing in 

the record to support the claim that Cato intended to “deceive, manipulate, or 

defraud” the hedge fund managers.  See Aaron, 446 U.S. at 686.  False 
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statements alone are not enough to establish a valid cause of action; the 

statements must have been made with an “intent to deceive, manipulate, or 

defraud.”  Matrixx Initiatives, Inc. v. Siracusano, 563 U.S. 27, 48 (2011); see 

also Ernst, 425 U.S. at 192–93 (holding absent a finding of scienter, a Rule 

10b-5 private action will fail).  Here, there is nothing in the facts to indicate a 

valid motive for Cato to draft these assurances to defraud the hedge fund 

managers.  (R. at 5–6).  At the time the assurances were drafted, company 

stock prices remained high.  (R. at 4).  While the stock wavered in the weeks 

leading up to the Annual Meeting, (R. at 4), the record does not indicate that 

this wavering was substantial, (R. at 4–5).  There simply is not a strong enough 

inference to satisfy the scienter element of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).   

CONCLUSION 

 

 For the reasons stated herein, Respondent respectfully request this 

Court to uphold the decision of the United States Court of Appeals for the 

Fourteenth Circuit.  

Respectfully Submitted,  

 
__________________/s/   

 
     Team R09 
Counsel of Record for 

Respondent 



R09 

 
 

a 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

APPENDIX 
  



R09 

 
 

b 

APPENDIX 1 
 

15 U.S.C. § 78j(b) (2012): 
 

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of means 
or instrumentality of 18 interstate commerce or of the mails, or of any facility of 
any national securities exchange -- (b) To use or employ, in connection with the 

purchase or sale of any security registered on a national securities exchange or 
any security not so registered . . . any manipulative or deceptive device or 
contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the Commission 

may prescribe . . . 
 

17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5 (2012): 
 
It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any 

means or instrumentality of interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any 
facility of any national securities exchange, (c) To engage in any act, practice, 

or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit 
upon any person, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 
 

 


